

"FROM WHERE I STAND" - WHAT DO SERVICE PROVIDERS IN ST GEORGE SAY ARE INFLUENCES FOR INDIGENOUS YOUTH SUICIDE IN THEIR COMMUNITY?

A Thesis submitted by

Caitlin J E Easton

For the award of

Master of Science (Advanced)

2020

ABSTRACT

A general apprehension exists surrounding adolescent suicides among Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people in rural, regional and remote communities. The extent and prevalence of suicide among this group is unclear and the provision of services to support survivors and persons affected by Indigenous adolescent suicide is similarly either uncertain or misunderstood.

Consequently, this research aimed to examine the prevalence of Indigenous youth suicide within the geographical boundaries of St George Queensland and further the effect that such suicide events have on the community.

Using participatory action research 5 participants were recruited as collaborators to discuss Indigenous youth suicide in the community. Of these participants, 3 identified being of Aboriginal descent and all 5 participants identified as service providers within the St George community. A total of four interviews took place in St George, three interviews were conducted on a one-on-one basis and one interview had joint participants at their request.

The interviews were transcribed verbatim and a thematic analysis of the data was then conducted. Three themes were identified during the analysis "Community Insight", "Community Influence" and "Community Response".

The findings of the research revealed that while there had been limited Indigenous youth suicides in the last 10 years, the effect that the suicide of Indigenous youth outside of the geographical boundaries of St George was considerable and affected the community as though the deaths had happened within the geographical region.

Further, a profound reluctance to discuss the issue was encountered and that the perception was that there was not enough access to reliable, consistent support services and that their geographic isolation further prejudiced their access to services. Despite the apparent lack of funding, services and understanding regarding Indigenous youth suicide, the Indigenous community is resilient and supportive, providing a protective web for their young people and each other.

CERTIFICATION OF THESIS

This Thesis is entirely the work of Caitlin Jane Elizabeth Easton except where otherwise acknowledged. The work is original and has not been submitted for any other award, except where acknowledged.

Principal Supervisor: Professor Don Gorman

Associate Supervisor: Dr Raelene Ward

Student and supervisors signatures of endorsement are held at the University.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is with great honour that I thank the community of St George and their Elders for allowing me to conduct research within their community. They opened their hearts and allowed me to see their pain, their sadness but to also experience their love and warm embrace. This research has been supported by an Australian Government Research Training Program Scholarship and I was also very grateful to be given a substantial scholarship by Arrow Energy. Their financial support meant that I was able to juggle study and work and for that I am grateful.

My supervisors, Don and Rae. Thank you for your unwavering support. Thank you for your understanding, your patience, your motivation. Thank you for believing in me and making sure that I believed in myself too. Thank you for dedicating part of your lives to mine, and for sacrificing time with your families to help me. I will forever be grateful.

My parents, Bill and Liz. Thank you for giving me the absolute best chance to succeed in everything I do. I have always known exactly where I belong, because you two have loved me, supported me and guided me through life's obstacles. You have sat through far too many performances, read far too many assignments and listened to far too many meltdowns. We all know there is no way possible that this research would have happened without your love, motivation and understanding.

My husband Nick, thank you. You saw me in my darkest hour, held me, prayed for me and let your heart beat for the two of us until mine was ready to beat again. Time after time you have shown me just how lucky I am. Thank you for being such a wonderful part of my story.

Digby, my greatest achievement, biggest motivator and greatest distraction. Thank you for understanding that sometimes Mummy had to "go to meetings" and leave you behind, when all we both wanted was to play together. Thank you for bringing such joy and light to my life. Thank you for allowing me to see what it is like to have a part of your soul live in someone else. I pray that you will only ever know love and joy, however I know that that won't be true. So, for you I pray that you know how loved you are, how precious you are and I pray that you will always know the love and support that you have in your family and friends.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	i
CERTIFICATION OF THESIS	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	vi
LIST OF DEFINITIONS	vii
CHAPTER ONE – INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Global Suicide	2
1.3 Suicide in Australia	2
1.4 Review of Literature	3
1.4.1 Australian Investigation into Indigenous Suicide	4
1.4.2 A Canadian Perspective on First Nations youth suicide	5
1.5 Literature Gap	6
1.6 St George	7
1.7 Issues surrounding Indigenous Research	7
1.8 Ethics	8
CHAPTER TWO – METHODS	9
2.1 Methodology	9
2.2 Analysis	
CHAPTER THREE - FINDINGS	
3.1 Community Insight	12
3.1.1 Influences	
3.1.2 Number of Suicides	14
3.2 Community Influence	
3.2.1 Inter-generational Unemployment	16
3.2.2 Identity	17
3.3 Community Response	17
3.3.1 Guilt and grief	
3.3.2 Anger and Violence	19
3.3.3 Support	

CHAPTER FOUR - CONCLUSION	22
4.1 Implications	22
4.2 Limitations	24
REFERENCES	26
BIBLIOGRAPHY	30

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AMS	Aboriginal Medical Service
Etc.	Etcetera
NGO	Non- Governmental Organisation
QPS	Queensland Police Service
WHO	World Health Organization

LIST OF DEFINITIONS

Bundjalung	An Aboriginal Nation of Australia
Gunggari	An Aboriginal Nation of Australia
Kamilaroi	An Aboriginal Nation of Australia
Murri	A demonym for Aboriginal people from Queensland
Roo	A Kangaroo, a large marsupial native to Australia

CHAPTER ONE – INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

I am a proud Aboriginal woman, from the Bundjalung Nation, with my birthplace being Murwillumbah, New South Wales. As a result of the operation of the Stolen Generations most of my Indigenous family history has been lost. This loss is the driving force behind my passion to prevent suicide, as with each death we not only lose a member of society, but also a piece of our culture dies with them. I am a lead cast member in Australia's only Indigenous Opera company - Short Black Opera (presenting *Pecan Summer*). Due to this involvement, I have also been welcomed and accepted into the Yorta-Yorta Nation of Victoria, as guardians of the stories and Dreaming which is featured in the opera *Pecan Summer*. I am a wife, married to a Gunggari man, and a mother of one, who was born prematurely during this research.

I have a strong sense of belonging to my culture and have been raised to treat my Elders, the guardians of our knowledges, with reverence and respect. I recognise the faith that our Elders place in my hands as a researcher and treat this trust as a privilege, especially as this research took place on the land of the Kamilaroi people, not my own.

I was blessed to be born into a family where communication and relationships are everything. I am an only child and my family moved several times in my youth, which meant that our little family unit of three was always very close, as we experienced all the adventures that come with relocating together. My parents made sure that there wasn't a subject I couldn't approach them about – and openly discussed mental health. I was diagnosed with depression at age 14 and continued to speak openly with my family about my mental health. However, in 2015 I became (what I termed) as "irrationally rational", a point where I had become so irrational, that it seemed rational to take my life. Thankfully, I believe that my relationship with my family and my ability to communicate exactly what I was feeling, what I was intending to do, meant that I was able to be kept safe, and survive that period of my life.

It was after this experience that I realised that I had access to all the supports, I had health insurance which meant I didn't have to wait months to be seen my health professionals, I had access to my family and support network, I had a university level education and was trained and delivered training in suicide prevention, and yet, despite all those advantages, I had a suicide story. If I could experience the darkness that I felt during that time, and nearly not survive, what chance do those who don't have those advantages when they become "irrationally rational"? This was the beginning of my research journey.

1.2 Global Suicide

According to the World Health Organisation (2019) approximately 800 000 people lose their life to suicide each year. Examining available data from 2016, the World Health Organisation (WHO) determined that globally, more people die each year from suicide than from breast cancer, homicide and malaria. WHO found that suicide was the second highest cause of death in young people aged 15-29 and the third highest cause of death in people aged 15-19 years (World Health Organization, 2019).

WHO found that while there were similar number of suicide deaths between males and females in the 15-19 age group, suicide was the second leading cause of death for females aged 15-19 years, and the thirds highest cause of death for males in the same age bracket (World Health Organization, 2019).

According to WHO, there are similar rates of suicide across low, middle and high income countries, however in low to middle income countries the suicide ratio between males and females were similar, however in high income countries the suicide rate was three times that of males to females (World Health Organization, 2019). Pollock et al. (2018) highlighted that several studies have been conducted in high income countries such as Australia, Canada and New Zealand and that there is a consistently elevated Indigenous suicide rate across these countries and a disproportionate amount of suicide deaths in Indigenous populations when compared to that of non-Indigenous people.

1.3 Suicide in Australia

I believe that when society loses a person to suicide, they not only lose a valuable member of society, but they also lose a valuable part of culture. In Australia suicide remains the leading cause of death of Australians aged 15-44 years of age and suicide accounted for more than 97,066 years of potential life lost, the highest of all leading causes of death in 2014 (Australian Bureau Statistics (ABS), 2014). Suicide in Indigenous Australians was largely unheard of up until the 1960s where suicide rates started to increase, eventually reaching endemic proportions in the 1980s and has remained as a high priority area of concern since (Nasir et al., 2016). Suicide rates for Indigenous Australians are now estimated to be twice that of non-Indigenous Australians and in younger Indigenous people (ages 15-24) the ratio is estimated to increase to 4:1 (Milnes et al., 2011).

The suicide rates, for Indigenous and non-Indigenous Australians demonstrate a correlation between remoteness of residential address and suicide. The suicide rates in very remote Australia are twice as high as those of major cities. Indigenous Australians comprise a larger part of the population in remote and very remote areas and therefore experience an increased rate of suicide (Milnes et al., 2011). Interestingly, the First Nations of Canada are experiencing similar significant youth suicide rates in their communities, with data in 2002 showing suicide rates of up to six times higher than non-First Nations youth (Canada Health, 2003).

1.4 Review of Literature

Whilst working as a part of a research team investigating the role of Elders in Contemporary Indigenous communities (Busija et al., 2020), and a second project examining the effectiveness of community lead suicide prevention programs (Nasir et al., 2017), it became apparent that there was a particular concern in the Indigenous community in regional and remote Queensland about the number of suicide deaths in Indigenous youth. St George was identified across several research sites as being a location of particular concern, with the apparent suicide deaths of Indigenous youth impacting families in other towns. It was suggested that we consult the Indigenous community members and service providers in St George about what they felt were influences in the suicide deaths of their youth.

3

A systematic literature search was undertaken, informed by guidelines from the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analysis model (PRISMA) (Moher et al., 2014). Fourteen databases were explored using the keyword "Indigenous" and "community consultation" and "suicide" in article titles and abstracts. The article titles and abstracts were then screened for the keywords and other internationally relevant alternatives: "Maori", "First Nations", "Native American", and "Aboriginal". Due to a limited number of returned articles, the search was then supplemented with similar search terms: "Aborig*", "participatory action" and "community participation".

After screening abstracts and the removal of duplicate studies, the search returned very few articles. Whilst there were several returned results for suicide prevention programs in Australia, there was really only one community consultation based publication on suicide prevention in Indigenous Australian communities, and one similar project from the First Nations of Canada. These selected articles used community engagement and social action to increase health equity, a movement strongly supported by the Australian governments "Close the Gap" initiative (Wallerstein & Duran, 2010). There is an obvious gap in the literature in regard to meaningful community consultation with Indigenous communities in Australia in particular regard to Indigenous Youth Suicide, its causes and its possible prevention strategies.

1.4.1 Australian Investigation into Indigenous Suicide

During 2012-2013 Cox et al. worked with Indigenous Australians in communities across Australia to develop, deliver and evaluate a program designed to increase the resilience and reduce suicide and psychological distress of Indigenous peoples, but also to empower and strengthen the community to address the social determinants that contribute to the identified distress, self-harm and suicide (Cox et al., 2014). Using a two phase process, in the first phase they aimed to build relationships with community members and stakeholders, hold focus-groups and interviews as well as workshops. The second phase saw the focus shift from knowledge gaining to the development of an empowerment program. Using a thematic analysis, the findings of the paper highlight that similar issues/themes were identified in all eight communities

examined. An evaluation of phase one led to the development of guidelines for establishing and implementing community empowerment programs. Whilst the full details of these guidelines are not revealed in the publication, they do however highlight the need for programs to be culturally appropriate and focus on enhancing Indigenous well-being and creating a sense of belonging (Cox et al., 2014).

The use of Indigenous participants allows for culturally appropriate research to be conducted. However, there is no statement of fact in the article demonstrating questions or guidelines posed for participants during the research. There appears to be no obvious statements of bias, however there is no indication as to how corresearchers conducted interviews or collected their data, thus potentially placing corresearchers in an Interpretative position and thus could contribute to bias (Fahy & Harrison, 2005). As constructive methodology relies on knowledge that construction of meaning happens at two levels; individual and intersubjective, researchers should have used exploratory methods to confirm meanings and intentions behind statements in interviews (Fahy & Harrison, 2005), however there is no evidence of how this was explored in the paper.

1.4.2 A Canadian Perspective on First Nations youth suicide

Participatory action research focus groups were conducted across three central Canadian First Nations reserves in 2005 (Walls et al., 2014). The purpose of these focus groups was to discuss the effect that suicide in youth was having on their community (Walls et al., 2014). The authors explicitly state that the aim of the paper was to provide an opportunity for First Nations people to have voices in academic literature surrounding the subject of youth suicide across several Frist Nations reserves in Canada, and a step in efforts to break the drastic underrepresentation of their voices in literature (Walls et al., 2014). Quoting Cutliffe (2005) the authors recognise gaps in knowledge in published academic literature in regard to the community needs and strengths in suicide prevention and their intention to rectify this (Walls et al., 2014). Similar to Cox et al., research was conducted using constructive and advocacy/participation paradigms, utilising the knowledge's of participants to not only gain data needed, but to also develop the research in its entirety (Fahy & Harrison, 2005; Walls et al., 2014).

The authors clearly indicate who was involved in the research and why. In this case, there were two focus groups held in each reserve. One contained Elders, chosen because of their "cultural status as wisdom-keepers, storytellers and respected caregivers" (Walls et al., 2014). The second focus group included service providers who worked in the community. These service providers were selected because of their proximity to the issue and their experience in dealing with crisis situations (Walls et al., 2014). Coincidentally all service providers present were also First Nations community members themselves and were able to maintain their kinship roles in addition to their professional roles in the group (Walls et al., 2014). All interview questions were developed in conjunction with the advisory board for the area in which the research was taking place. Focus groups were facilitated by the first author of the paper (a member of the cultural group in question) and were recorded on audio tape, then transcribed verbatim (Walls et al., 2014).

1.5 Literature Gap

A search for papers investigating Suicide in St George produced no academic results, however literature examining Indigenous suicide and youth suicide supported that the study should be investigated.

Positive outcomes stemming from the analysed available research supports the idea that further research using a whole of community consultation approach to develop an understanding of suicide in Indigenous youth should be conducted in Australia, and particularly in a town such as St George with a significantly high Indigenous population, no published academic literature and an anecdotally disproportionate high rate of youth suicide.

It is evident community consultation in Indigenous communities is vital to successful program outcomes. The methodology proposed by Isaak, Campeau et al. would transfer well into Australia as they indicate participant recruitment and research challenges as well as touching on "the sharing circle" (Isaak et al., 2009) which draws parallels to Indigenous Australian "yarning groups".

6

1.6 St George

St George is a rural community located in South West Queensland located 513 kilometres due west of Brisbane on Kamilaroi Country. It is located on the Balonne River and is at the junction of the Castlereagh, Monnie, Carnarvon and Balonne Highways. It is a thriving community that mainly produces cotton, sheep and wheat.

As at 2016, the town of St George had a self-identified Indigenous population of 520 persons, equivalent to 21.7% of the total population of St George, significantly higher than the 4.6% average across Queensland, and the 3.3% of the total Australian population. The average age of Indigenous Australians living in St George was 25 (Australian Bureau Statistics, 2016). After an extensive literature search, no academic publications were found to report formally on Indigenous youth suicide in St George, Queensland.

1.7 Issues surrounding Indigenous Research

Indigenous people have long grown tired of being "subjects" in research and have developed an understandable sense of mistrust of researchers. Thankfully there has been a shift in attitude of researchers in more recent times with researchers now consulting and collaborating with Indigenous peoples (Wand & Eades, 2008) enabling researchers to slowly close the gap of mistrust, and instead of just taking from a community, involving it and appreciating the wealth of knowledge that our Indigenous peoples have and allowing them to remain in control of that knowledge (Kendall et al., 2011). Indeed, there are now projects that have not only consulted with Indigenous communities, but also trained community members to be Indigenous researchers and collect data from their community in a culturally safe and valid way, but also providing them with a skill that is transferrable into other research areas, essentially removing the non-Indigenous researchers from the "ground-work" and allowing trust to once again be built (Kelly et al., 2012). By using Indigenous researchers, with guidance and permission from the local Indigenous community and their Elders, reciprocity becomes a key element in research and as such the community is no longer taken advantage of, with research findings being given back to the community.

1.8 Ethics

All research was conducted in accordance with the National Health and Medical Research Council 'Ethical guidelines for research conducted with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people' (National Health Medical Research Council, 2005) Formal approval was granted by the University of Southern Queensland (approval number H16REA234) on 18/4/2017 and no research took place prior to this. Participants were provided with, and taken through, a Participant Informed Consent form, and data collection only took place after the participant has given their informed consent. Participants were able to withdraw from the study at any stage of the research project and in the interest of reciprocity, results from the research project will be made available to the participants at their request (National Health Medical Research Council, 2005). Participants were required to be over the age of 18 for the purpose of this study.

CHAPTER TWO – METHODS

2.1 Methodology

Using participatory action based research I conducted 4 interviews (3 one-on-one and 1 joint interview at the request of the participants) to determine what the Indigenous community of St George, Queensland, believed to be influences on Indigenous youth Suicide in their community. The interviews took place in St George in mutually agreeable locations between the researcher and participant to ensure cultural safety. Recruitment was via self-nomination of interested parties who were informed of the research via word of mouth in community or direct referrals from service providers. For this project, a small sample of participants was proposed to be used n=10 with a proposed breakdown of n=5 Indigenous community members and n=5 service providers. For the purpose of this research project a 'service provider' was identified as a person, or group of people that worked directly with youth in the community, such as allied health professionals, teachers, emergency services personnel etc. After initial recruitment the active participant numbers were n= 5. All participants chose to identify as a service provider and three participants identified as being Aboriginal.

I had originally hoped to be able to interview 10 participants, however, despite having three separate research trips to St George, and having a list of willing participants from earlier discussions, I was only able to recruit five participants. On two separate trips I had Aboriginal participants indicate their willingness to participate, only not to return phone calls, texts or emails when I arrived to interview them at the requested time and location. Once I left St George they would respond to reschedule, but again failed to show the next time I visited the community.

In addition to this, my liaison with the community had to take unscheduled leave the week that they had arranged for me to come to St George. This meant that I did not have access to them or the contact details of participants that didn't arrive to the interview.

Participants were given the option of having one-on-one interviews or joint interviews. This allowed for participants to identify issues in the one-on-one interview that they may not feel comfortable raising in a group and will, on the other hand, allow freedom of thought and speech in the joint interviews as participants may prompt a response that may have otherwise not been divulged. Participants were "collaborators" in this research project, rather than "subjects".

I determined the attitudes and beliefs in St George by using open-ended questions which I used to help guide the conversations.

Interview questions included:

- Is there an issue with youth suicide in your community?
- Does the number of youth suicides in your community match what is formally reported?
- What problems are youth in your community facing that may lead to suicide?
- What influences youth suicide in your community?
- Are you aware of any current suicide prevention services available in your community?
- What happens if a youth is at risk of, or attempts, suicide?
- What happens in community when a youth suicides?
- Are you aware of anything in your community that helps to prevent youth suicide?
- How does the suicide of a young person affect your community?

Interviews varied in length dependant on participant engagement. As the topics discussed were of a confronting nature some participants were willing to share more, or enter into a deeper level of discussion than others. The shortest interview went for 12 minutes and the longest stopped at 43 minutes. Interviews were conducted in one sitting, however participants were aware that at any time they were able to stop the interview to take a break or reschedule or conclude the interview entirely. Participants were made aware that that for the purpose of this study "youth" was anyone aged under 23 years, in line with local service provider guidelines.

Participants were made aware of what the interviews would be around during recruitment and consent to interview and participants were not required to do any preparation work before the interviews took place.

Interviews were recorded by audio equipment and conducted by me. They were then transcribed verbatim upon which point I began to analyse the data.

2.2 Analysis

Interviews were focused on determining the attitudes and beliefs of the community in regard to Indigenous youth suicide and thus conversations were based on the issues of suicide, the number of suicides in the community, identifying problems that effected youth in St George, potential influences of suicide, the awareness of the community and community response to incidences of suicide.

A thematic analysis looks across data, comparing responses to identify reoccurring patterns of meaning (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Using the framework for thematic analysis proposed by Braun and Clarke (2006), I familiarised myself with the data and identified initial ideas and trends in 11responses. I then generated broad initial codes by identifying interesting features in the data and coding them as such. These were sentences, words or thoughts from the participants that were helping to tell the story. Broad codes were things like "suicide" "effect on family" etc.

I then searched for themes by collating the preliminary codes into potential themes and gathering data relevant to each potential theme. This is where preliminary themes emerged, such as "disengagement", "discrimination" and "distress".

I then reviewed themes by checking that they worked in relation to the coded extracts and the entire data set, which created a "thematic map" of analysis. Ongoing analysis helped to refine themes and to ensure that the themes told an accurate story of the data, and eventually led to the final themes, "Community insight", "Community Influence" and "Community Response".

CHAPTER THREE – FINDINGS

Interviews were focused on determining the attitudes and beliefs of the community in regard to Indigenous youth suicide and thus conversations were based on the issues of suicide, the number of suicides in the community, identifying problems that effected youth in St George, potential influences of suicide, the awareness of the community and community response to incidences of suicide. After reviewing the dataset, three key overarching theme areas were identified – Community Insight, Community Influence, and Community Response. This chapter will examine those three key themes and how they work together to answer the question of what influences suicide in Indigenous youth in St George.

3.1 Community Insight

When I first travelled to St George, prior to beginning my research, I was talking to members of the community at the local school fate. When I mentioned to them that I was interested in doing some research within the community and they began telling me of the horrors that the community were facing – an "Ice" epidemic, alcohol abuse, domestic violence, death, and the children who were stuck in the middle. Old enough to understand, but too young to be able to create their own change. Children who lived through droughts, through addiction, abuse, unemployment and seemingly no end in sight. Children who, whilst experiencing the troubles reserved for adults, were faced with their own set of challenges. School, trying to find a sense of belonging, a sense of identity. The throws of "teenage-hood" love, lust, new life experiences. These children told stories of their friends that couldn't handle it anymore, that were turning to drugs and alcohol.

The children who were lucky enough to escape the clutches of despair had to watch their classmates, their friends, their neighbours struggle instead. Children were having their support network taken away from them, one person at a time. Only to eventually come to the end of their schooling (if they made it that far before dropping out) that were now faced with the reality that there is no work, that they could either leave town to seek a job, or stay behind and hope for the best.

12

I was told of the huge numbers of suicides that the community was experiencing, that they were losing children monthly at their own hands. The community told me they wanted something to be done. They told me that they wanted better lives for their children.

3.1.1 Influences

Once I reached St George and began consulting with participants these influences were confirmed. I was told stories of youths who were struggling with their sexuality and, to cope with such difficulties were adopting risky behaviours which perhaps otherwise they would have avoided. I learned that youth in St George are being exposed to drugs, alcohol, bullying and domestic violence. Many of these children are withdrawing from school and run the risk of "going unnoticed" at best or the alternative of coming into conflict with the criminal justice system with the eventual likely consequence of ever-increasing periods of incarceration.

"The precursors to the suicide are also precursors that involved leaving school early, difficulties with education and all that sort of stuff .You generally would find that they are once again further marginalised out of mainstream response services...Three droughts....lack of employment opportunities, lack of engagement by government and NGOs locally, disassociation from family structure...has caused a fairly significant breakdown and unfortunately the Indigenous population, already marginalised, get further marginalised. Then you throw in an Ice outbreak then epidemic, which unfortunately will target all members of the community but once again, those marginalised seem to get exposed a bit harder" (Participant 4).

"So job opportunities, training opportunities, are all decreased because you're not necessarily got that piece of paper. So then (without the piece of paper) there's the substance abuse. So definitely drugs and alcohol. Alcohol is still a big issue, even though drugs is sort of the primary focus a lot of the time" (Participant 5).

"You don't really know, because you don't know why they do it. Depression maybe, in the community, because we're influenced by other people around them to drink, take drugs, become depressed and don't talk to anyone about it" (Participant 3).

" Drugs...just all of them, like any, the one that's most popular at that time. It comes in waves and sometimes they might go on Ice but then going back five years ago it was like petrol, paint sniffing, things like that. You'd have little waves of it. But alcohol has always been around" (Participant 2).

3.1.2 Number of Suicides

While the significant influences above had perceptually increased their risk of suicide, there simply isn't the statistical support for that view, either at a local agency level or from the Australian Bureau of Statistics. All participants noted that the community hadn't experienced any youth suicide physically in St George for several years, but all recounted the effect of suicides with some relationship to the community but occurring elsewhere.

"We haven't had any for a couple of years. I think the last one would have been two years ago, two to three years ago. But that was like where the kids had grown up here and gone. So it is still very close to us because it's family members" (Participant 1).

"She was in Adelaide. I was in Melbourne when I got the call. She wasn't in our school but had been. The other one wasn't in our school but was related to one in our school, and that one, just the shame of it, from the family, they felt so much shame that she had chosen that way" (Participant 5).

"This young boy who did that, he was only 14, his family is huge, and they are here, they are in Toowoomba, they are everywhere. It really affected us, the Toowoomba community, Moree, it wasn't just St George that felt it. It was where all his family originated from. We were all affected" (Participant 2).

It is clear from the participants that although the deaths referred to, whilst not occurring within the geographical boundary of St George Queensland, the community had related, and reacted to, the suicide just as graphically as if it had happened in St George. It is realistic to infer that many Indigenous youth suicides occurring throughout Australia have a similar connection to those who reside within the geographical boundaries of St George; that as their deaths took place away from their St George home that none would be listed as a St George suicide according to the ABS.

It is apparent that the perception of the extent of youth suicide on the St George Indigenous community is far greater than the statistical reality which the strict reporting paradigm demands. Another dimension of the skewed frequency of youth suicide is to be found in the reluctance, albeit a legal imperative, to find at a coronial level a cause of death described as suicide. Drawing on ABS data (2009) The Australian Senate's report *The Hidden Toll, Suicide in Australia* (2010) highlighted the complexity of the Coronial process of determining a death as a suicide. It draws on the different layers of the process, from the Coroner's being required to prove that the death was a deliberate act in which the deceased intended to end their life, taking into account whether the deceased was cognitively aware of their decision and if their mental state at the time of the event may have made them legally unable to be considered competent at the time (eg under the influence of drugs or alcohol). The Coronial process may also include taking into account data provided by the police and the family of the deceased. To complicate this process further, *The Hidden Toll* (2010) also notes that Coroners have historically taken into account the religious and/or cultural implications that a death being declared as a suicide may have on the bereaved family. These factors all lead to the potential for significant underreporting of suicide deaths, with many being classed as an accidental death, or misadventure.

The research revealed that both within the community itself as well as the service providers, that there is little doubt that deaths attributed to being a result of "misadventure" or "accidental death" were in fact suicides.

"That's obviously very difficult because what QPS report and what the coroner finds can be two different things. I am aware of some matters which have been indicative of suicide which were never recorded that way, they were just a sudden death, violent or accidental through misadventure. Certainly, the precursors for those matters would then fall under the precursors for suicide. Whether the actual event is recorded as suicide is a different thing" (Participant 4).

"So the two I dealt with, one was a "questionable" suicide, like the parents wouldn't have it, so they were more that someone had actually [means removed] the person. So there was this really vicious anger, aggression, toward who they believed had done it, and it ended up being deemed a death by "misadventure" (Participant 5).

3.2 Community Influence

St George truly is an old country town. There are no traffic lights or roundabouts, there are pubs on each corner and the local hairdressers are booked out weeks in advance but can always seem to squeeze you in and have a chat. Publicans know what drink they need to pour as soon as you walk in the door and it is the sort of place where people have lost track of who must buy the next round of drinks. The streets are filled with utes and Land Cruisers and people casually leaning up against their car, catching up with their neighbours. It is the sort of place where near-sunset everyone starts muttering about "the damn 'roos" and pointing out "hot spots" where they are bad. The drought has been tough on the community and the river runs almost dry. You still see anglers trying their best as they sit on the banks of the mighty Balonne, fishing rod in one hand, drink in the other and dog by their side. It is hard to imagine, that there is however, a current of unrest within the community. The Indigenous community is close, but vulnerable. That's a problem in a town where everybody knows your name.

3.2.1 Inter-generational Unemployment

The participants identified several problems that are influencing their community and its general wellbeing. There was a strong current of recurring concern at the high levels of intergenerational unemployment in St George with all participants raising concerns about the lack of employment available, or youth not wanting to engage in employment as a problem and possible trigger for risky behaviour that may result in suicide. It is something most people don't even think about, but in St George, your surname can make or break you. When I first started research in St George on a different project, I was not yet married and thus carried my maiden name. I went into St George as a "Munro" and no one batted an eyelid. When I decided to conduct this research, I debated over what name to use, my maiden name, or my new married surname "Easton". However, community, I wasn't just some "kid from the city" but rather, by marriage, a member of the St George community. Others aren't so lucky, and their surname limits their opportunities, with children paying the price for the mistakes others in their family made before them.

"... Unfortunately, people hear a surname and go 'no I'm not going to employ them, they're that family, or this family' So even if you've got a child with a strong work ethic, and wants to work, sometimes their name, people won't employ them because of their name...There is still a group of children who themselves don't want to work, don't want to do work experience. They don't have any of the skills of turning up on time, typically they are the kids who you see come to senior and they cancel enrolments because they are not engaging with senior as well. So, there is nothing for them. Where do they go? Some of them just couch surf and hang with the crowd. So, they just start drinking and doing whatever. We tried to put one young fellow on as an apprentice boilermaker and he said 'I earn more money on the dole'" (Participant 5).

3.2.2 Identity

With Aboriginal children being overrepresented in the youth justice system as well as within the foster care system (Blackstock et al., 2020; (Hamilton et al., 2020) it wasn't surprising that points on a lack of connection to culture and cultural identity were raised with great concern.

"We've had a lot of kids return to us out of foster care and residential foster care, so they've not even lived with families, a lot of them. So, that's been a real challenge in the last couple of years for us. That's a new thing, and they're coming back to grandparents who may never have lived with them, never worked with them... There's also a lack of leadership in our Elders. We don't have strong leadership, so we can't go to our certain Elder family groupings and say hey, Johnny needs a talking to. We don't have that, and the Elders we do have, the kids don't respect. ... Even that sense of culture and knowing country, knowing your culture, our kids don't have it. You've got to know, for any child, whether they're Indigenous or not. You've got to know who you belong to who's your mob, regardless of whether you're black, white, brindle you know? You have to know, and you have to know what that mob believes in... I do think that's a big issue for our kids, that lack of – they have that – they have an identity as to their family grouping, but I don't think a lot of our kids have an identity as far as what the cultural meaning of that family is" (Participant 5).

3.3 Community Response

The Balonne river seems to have two settings – empty or flooding. In both times, the community rallies together, keeping an eye out on their friends and family during drought, or coming together to help load sand-bags to keep the rising flood waters out of homes. St George comes together in time of need forming a web of support – each person doing their bit to make sure that no one falls through the cracks into despair. But a community can be divided, the very people that once stood with you, can now stand against you.

3.3.1 Guilt and grief

There was a significant amount of information regarding the effect that suicide has on the community and the ongoing trauma that is happening because of it. The participants spoke of the suicides that have affected the community and the total disharmony and guilt that was created within the community, that continues today. Chappel, (2015) explored the way that people react to "taboo deaths" such as murder and suicide and highlighted that it is often different to other deaths, with the reactions to such loss of life are often based on a variety of factors including the events leading up to the death, perceived social value of the deceased and the amount of suffering. Historically, many cultures and religions have seen suicide as a taboo subject, with those deaths being shamed within their respective community. Consequently, the participants spoke about the effect that suicide has on the bereaved, sharing the sense of guilt and sadness felt by those left behind, and indeed the anger felt toward the deceased and those that may have performed a perceived part in the death of the young person.

"Everyone has a sense of guilt, where if it's an accident or an illness it's out of your hands. I think the guilt and shame is a big, big thing among families that stays there for a long period of time. That 'Why didn't I see it? What else could I have done?'. So – I think, like any death, people go a month after, three months after, and they forget, or they don't know what to say. So, that's - I don't see – like, if you have an Indigenous funeral, it's not like only Indigenous people go. Our community is so connected that if a child dies, it's a child. Like, it's one of our kids. It's not like, oh, it's just an Indigenous kid. So, that's really, like – I guess, in our community, and maybe that's my naïve view, but I guess that I take the view that they're all our kids, no matter who they are" (Participant 5).

"Lots of grieving. There are kids that are the same age and they're grieving because they were friends with that person, just lots of anger and lots of talk that isn't true obviously..." (Participant 1).

3.3.2 Anger and Violence

All participants spoke of the strong, angry and often violent response from the effected families which flows into their networks and creates disharmony within the St George community. The participants indicated that bereaved families often wanted to assign blame to another person for the death. There was also talk of guilt within the St George community.

"There's always someone that gets blamed, or a group of people that get blamed as a result of it. There's not a lot of ownership within the individual family. That's a natural grieving process, they want to blame someone...that in those crises will generally be fairly explosive and will escalate a lot of times into violence in other areas peripheral to what has actually happened" (Participant 4).

" Lots of grieving. There are kids that are the same age and they're grieving because they were friends with that person, just lots of anger and lots of talk that isn't true obviously...There was a young girl, they had to hide her because she couldn't even come up to the shop. She hid for 12 months, had to just stay at home with Mum and Dad couldn't go to school, couldn't even come up to the shop because if anybody or the family had seen her, they would jump her. It was really scary for her and her family, even though she wasn't directly involved in it. It was just small-town gossip things were made up and stuff like that and she got into the middle of it, so it was really scary for her because she had to hide and couldn't even go to school or anything. I wouldn't stay that it is completely finished because some of those family members have moved away as well, but if she is unlucky enough one day to run into somebody then I don't know what the consequences would be" (Participant 1).

3.3.3 Support

Whilst all participants acknowledged the first line of support is to be found within the family they also acknowledged the inherent defect of an interfamily breakdown if suspicion and anger feature in the reaction of various individuals of the families.

"Support wise – it's just family. Then sometimes that doesn't work because there's anger, like family members – one family member might be blaming mum and dad and then mum and dad will be blaming community member and stuff like that, so there is lots of anger. There's really nothing to help anybody with that" (Participant 1).

Given the remoteness of St George there are few support agencies available in St George to attend to the higher mental health needs of the community, additionally a major stumbling block is the reluctance of Indigenous people to approach such

providers who would be able to give that support. Goodwin-Smith et al. (2013) referenced the work of Shneidman (1972) who termed the support offered to those bereaved by suicide as "post-vention" and who also highlighted that the largest public health problem is not suicide prevention but rather it is the need to ease the effects of stress on those that are bereaved or survive suicide. They note that such postvention services are a vital link between the community and the bereaved family and may include debriefing sessions, counselling and family support. Wilson and Clarke (2005) also highlighted the importance of postvention support noting that those that are bereaved by suicide are themselves at an increased risk of mental ill health and suicide. Participants indicated that there was "nothing and then everything", discussing the "wave" of pre and post -vention support that is delivered to the community after suicide within the community.

"There's not enough, no. There's not enough programs and there's not enough awareness. We've got lots of youth workers but I don't think they do enough work around that sort of – it's like a taboo subject" (Participant 3)..."They are like a craze too, if something happens in that community they base a lot of training and get the services in the community to address that issue, but if it's not an issue then there's nothing there. So if we have a random somebody that wants to suicide, there's nothing available to help them, but then when it does happen we have lots of services coming into the community bombarding us. Until then you don't know about any of these services in the community" (Participant 2).

"I know that Lifeline run some stuff and Care Balonne run some stuff. A lot of the stuff has been funded through drought money which has obviously targeted a slightly different demographic because it's more those who are on the farms suffering from drought and so the targeted intervention was once again old and white. Everything we do is targeted at resilience building because government won't identify it, government won't fund it generally and it's left to the NGOs. Unfortunately, the NGOs are, as a historical thing, they're old and white. If you look at Lifeline, the structure of Lifeline is historically old and white people. If you look at the church and any church associations it's old and white people, and therefore once again the marginalised coloured kids get left out" (Participant 4).

"There's not enough awareness in the community and kids, they need to be taught a lot more about how to deal with it. I think the community as well, the whole community" (Participant 2).

"We've got some really damaged, emotionally damaged children, and physically for some of them, or sexually. So for us that is a whole new challenge where, in Toowoomba, they get Evolve, and they get all these psychiatrists. They get all of that. We've got none of that. It's you know, it's me. It's realistically me working with these schools truing to help them understand what these kids need" (Participant 5).

"You know us, Murri people, we don't talk to people about anything. Even after it has happened, we don't go and seek help, counselling. We just deal with it ourselves....I know there is a lot of blame and they're not accepting, maybe this is why this has happened, not seeing help afterwards" (Participant 2).

"We have a counsellor at the AMS, a child mental health worker at the hospital, or if she isn't available – the adult mental health services. As well as the guidance officer the school, I guess the community chaplain, the school nurse. They are all there as the first point of call if there are concerns about kids" (Participant 5).

CHAPTER FOUR – CONCLUSION

4.1 Implications

The St George service providers were able to identify what they believed to be clear influences for suicide in their region. While small in nature, the study found similar themes and influences to that which was found in Wells et al. (2014). Participants identified that influences were across many levels of society, highlighting that many issues were not only affecting the individual but that it is an issue that is also at a community level such as drugs and alcohol abuse.

It was identified that many of the children that the participants were working with had disengaged from formal education and consequently were either "flying under the radar" or coming into contact with police due to misadventure. The service providers identified that there was a strong multigenerational influence in the community, but that influence was generally of a negative nature. Many families had experienced multigenerational unemployment and participants identified that formal education, particularly post-secondary school, was not considered a high priority. The participants highlighted that there was little engagement between Aboriginal Elders within the community and Aboriginal youth. The participants reflected that if the community was able to encourage positive interactions between Elders and youth that children may be more likely to reengage with schooling and be more willing to take pride in their cultural heritage.

The emerging theme of family disengagement is not unexpected, with 1 in 6 Aboriginal children currently receiving Child Protection services nationally and 1 in 18 Aboriginal children in out of home care (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2020). It can be argued that this overrepresentation of Aboriginal children in care is a significant factor in youth suicide as children are removed from their support network, their loved ones and their culture.

Participants expressed frustration at a lack of consistency at a National Government level, in particular regarding community program funding for suicide prevention and postvention support. Participants were concerned that there was very little public mental health support available in St George, with private psychologists often out of the financial reach of those that need it with both the public and private sector having significant wait times. Participants were very concerned that youth that were at risk of suicide were often taken to Toowoomba for treatment, which again, removed them from their support network and cultural connections.

The participants indicated that there was limited funding available to the community for suicide prevention, with programs tending to be inappropriate in nature (for example, aimed at farmers) which the participants said limited those who felt they could access such intervention or support services. Of course, this could be a natural result of the underreporting of suicide deaths, resulting in misallocation of funding.

The service providers have indicated that there is a discrepancy between what the community "know to be true" and what is the decision of the Coroner. Several community members post-research have indicated that there have been a number of youth deaths by suicide, however that isn't being reflected in Coronial findings. The number of deaths ruled to be a suicide has long been considered to be inaccurate with many studies arguing that suicide deaths are being underreported at a coronial level. The Australian Senate's report *The Hidden Toll, Suicide in Australia* (2010) highlighted the effect that underreporting has on effective suicide prevention and funding allocations. It drew on Professor Ian Hickie's statement that underreporting was a national tragedy and that in doing so resources may be being directed away from the high risk groups in communities that need support, and that there is no way to know if policy and program initiatives are working as they were truly intended.

I believe that further research would be warranted in investigating the disparity of perceived suicide deaths and the actual statistics. Until such time as either the Coroner finds deaths as suicides in St George, or until suicides of St George youth that occur out of the geographical boundary of the town are counted toward St George's suicide statistics, it is unlikely that St George would receive the additional support that the service providers have indicated a need for.

Further investigation would also be warranted into the effect that a death has on a community other than where the death has taken place. Due to the above disparity between reports and findings, the Toowoomba suicide of a St George youth would

have significantly more influence on the community of St George than the community of Toowoomba, however, as the suicide has taken place in Toowoomba post-vention support would more than likely be allocated to Toowoomba, not St George. The current model of post-vention support, in which agencies and not- for -profit bodies are able to apply for funding based on ABS data, doesn't take into account where the youth lives, or has lived and the impact that a death would have on a community other than the place where the death occurred. As highlighted in *The Hidden Toll* (2010) this, along with the underreporting of suicide deaths, may result in the misallocation of funds and doesn't allow for reliable data analysis of suicide prevention programs.

4.2 Limitations

There are some limitations in this research. A natural limitation is that I only interviewed participants that were over 18years of age. Whilst the research is investigating youth suicide, having their voice not be heard within this project is an obvious downside. However, given the current state of mental health supports available in St George, alongside an anecdotally high rate of youth suicide, I chose to not run the risk of exacerbating, triggering or otherwise exposing children to vicarious trauma, by participating in this research.

As discussed previously, the logistical issues surrounding participant requitement could be considered a limitation to the study. However, despite the small number of participants, the themes that have been identified almost echoes the findings of Walls et al. (2014), in their much larger study of influences on First Nations youth suicide. This could suggest that Indigenous people, regardless of where they live in the world are experiencing the same factors in youth suicide.

It has been suggested (after the study was completed) that w24hile the community were originally eager to accept me as "one of their own" having married into the St George community, the realisation that I was "part of the community" could have meant that participants may have felt that they would not have true confidentiality. There are reports that in some situations in St George, service providers breached confidentiality "for the sake of a good story" and that therefore participants may not

24

have been certain that confidentiality in my study would truly apply. It has also been suggested that there could have been some confusion in regard to "mandatory reporting" and that potential participants may have been concerned that there could have been legal ramifications if they participated and that may have affected their freedom, or that of their loved ones. The fact that the Aboriginal participants identified themselves as Service Providers supports this theory, as it reduces the potential to be identified in the wider community. In retrospect, this may not have happened had I used my maiden name during the study.

This therefore also creates another limitation. Of the three Indigenous participants all chose to identify as service providers, rather than as community members. Therefore, for the purpose of this research, I have only interviewed service providers. This could mean that the "Aboriginal community" voice isn't being accurately represented. However, just as in Walls et al. (2014), the service providers interviewed believed that they were able identify as service providers without losing their "Aboriginality". In addition to this, as service providers, the participants are also privy to information that the general Aboriginal community does not have access to, with a solid understanding of current data and trends within the community and consequently this may have allowed them to speak truthfully and may be viewed as a benefit to this study.

REFERENCES

Advisory Group on Suicide Prevention (Canada) & Canada. Health Canada & Assembly of First Nations (2003). *Acting on what we know : preventing youth suicide in First Nations : the report of the Advisory Group on Suicide Prevention*.

Australian Bureau of Statistics (2013). *Estimates of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians* (cat. no. 3238.0.55.001). Retrieved from http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/3238.0.55.001

Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2014). Causes of Death, Australia, 2014

(cat. no. 33033.3). http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/3303.0

Australia. Parliament. Senate. Community Affairs References Committee. & Siewert, R. (2010). The Hidden Toll: Suicide in Australia. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.

http://www.aph.gov.au/senate/committee/clac_ctte/suicide/report/report.p df

Blackstock, C., Bamblett, M., & Black, C. (2020). Indigenous ontology, international law and the application of the Convention to the over-representation of Indigenous children in out of home care in Canada and Australia. *Child abuse* & neglect, 110(Pt 1), 104587-104587.

https://doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104587

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3*(2), 77-101.

https://doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa

Busija, L., Cinelli, R., Toombs, M. R., Easton, C., Hampton, R., Holdsworth, K., . . .
McCabe, M. P. (2020). The Role of Elders in the Wellbeing of a Contemporary
Australian Indigenous Community. *Gerontologist*, *60*(3), 513-524.
https://doi:10.1093/geront/gny140

- Chapple, A., Ziebland, S. and Hawton, K. (2015), Taboo and the different death? Perceptions of those bereaved by suicide or other traumatic death. Sociol Health Illn, 37: 610-625. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.12224
- Cox, A., Dudgeon, P., Holland, C., Kelly, K., Scrine, C., & Walker, R. (2014). Using participatory action research to prevent suicide in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. *Australian Journal of Primary Health, 20*(4), 345-349. https://doi:10.1071/PY14043
- Fahy, K., & Harrison, K. (2005). Methods of research in sports sciences: quantitative and qualitative approaches (pp. 92-194). Oxford, Oxfordshire: Meyer and Meyer Sport.
- Goodwin-Smith, I., Hicks, N., Hawke, M., Alver, G., & Raftery, P. (2013). Living beyond Aboriginal suicide: Developing a culturally appropriate and accessible suicide postvention service for Aboriginal communities in South Australia. *Advances in Mental Health*, *11*(3), 238-

245. https://doi.org/10.5172/jamh.2013.11.3.238

Hamilton, S. L., Maslen, S., Best, D., Freeman, J., O'Donnell, M., Reibel, T., . . . Watkins, R. (2020). Putting 'justice' in recovery capital: Yarning about hopes and futures with young people in detention. *International journal for crime, justice and social democracy, 9*(2), 20-36. https://doi:10.5204/ijcjsd.v9i2.1256 Isaak, C. A., Campeau, M., Katz, L. Y., Enns, M. W., Elias, B., & Sareen, J. (2009).
 Community-based Suicide Prevention Research in Remote On-Reserve First
 Nations Communities. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction,* 8(2), 258-270. https://doi:10.1007/s11469-009-9250-0

- Jowett, S., Carpenter, B., & Tait, G. (2018). Determining a suicide under Australian law. *UNSWLJ*, *41*, 355.
- Kelly, J., Saggers, S., Taylor, K., Pearce, G., Massey, P., Bull, J., . . . Ahboo, S. (2012).
 "makes you proud to be black eh?": Reflections on meaningful Indigenous research participation. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 11(1).
 https://doi:10.1186/1475-9276-11-40
- Kendall, E., Sunderland, N., Barnett, L., Nalder, G., & Matthews, C. (2011). Beyond the rhetoric of participatory research in Indigenous communities: Advances in Australia over the last decade. *Qualitative Health Research, 21*(12), 1719-1728. https://doi:10.1177/1049732311418124
- Milnes, A., Pegrum, K., & Nebe, B. (2011). *Young Australians: their health and wellbeing 2011* (Vol. 4th). Canberra, A.C.T: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.
- Nasir, B., Kisely, S., Hides, L., Ranmuthugala, G., Brennan-Olsen, S., Nicholson, G. C., .
 . . Toombs, M. (2017). An Australian Indigenous community-led suicide intervention skills training program: community consultation findings. *BMC psychiatry*, *17*(1), 219. https://doi:10.1186/s12888-017-1380-5. (Accession No. 28610603)
- National Health Medical Reseach Council (2003). Values and ethics : guidelines on ethical conduct in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health research / National Health and Medical Research Council
- Pollock, N. J., Naicker, K., Loro, A., Mulay, S., & Colman, I. (2018). Global incidence of suicide among Indigenous peoples: a systematic review. *BMC Medicine*, 16(1), 145. https://doi:10.1186/s12916-018-1115-6
- World Health Organization. (2014). Preventing suicide: a global imperative. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/131056
- World Health Organization. (2019). *Suicide in the world: global health estimates*. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326948
- Wallerstein, N., & Duran, B. (2010). Community-Based Participatory Research Contributions to Intervention Research: The Intersection of Science and Practice to Improve Health Equity. *American Journal of Public Health, 100*(S1), S40-S46. https://doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.184036
- Walls, M. L., Hautala, D., & Hurley, J. (2014). "Rebuilding our community": Hearing silenced voices on Aboriginal youth suicide. *Transcultural psychiatry*, 51(1), 47-72.
- Wand, A. P. F., & Eades, S. J. (2008). Navigating the process of developing a research project in aboriginal health. *Medical Journal of Australia, 188*(10), 584-587.
- Wilson, A., & Clark, S. (2005). South Australian suicide postvention project: report to mental health services.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adams, M., & Danks, B. (2007). A positive approach to addressing Indigenous male suicide in Australia. *Aboriginal Isl Health Work J, 31*(4), 28-31.
- Austin, A. E., van den Heuvel, C., & Byard, R. W. (2011). Causes of community suicides among Indigenous South Australians. *J Forensic Leg Med, 18*(7), 299-301. https://doi:10.1016/j.jflm.2011.06.002

Australian Parliament. Senate. Community Affairs References Committee & Siewert, R. (2010). The Hidden Toll: Suicide in Australia. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia. http://www.aph.gov.au/senate/committee/clac_ctte/suicide/report/report.pdf

Australian Bureau of Statistics (2013). *Estimates of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians* (cat. no. 3238.0.55.001).

http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/3238.0.55.001

- Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2014). *Causes of Death, Australia, 2014* (cat. no. 33033.3). http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/3303.0
- Australian Institute of Health Welfare. (2014). *Suicide and hospitalised self-harm in Australia: trends and analysis*. https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/injury/suicide-hospitalisedself-harm-in-australia

Australian Institute of Health Welfare. (2015). *Injury deaths data, Australia: technical report on issues associated with reporting for reference years 1999–2010.* https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/injury/injury-deaths-data-australia-technicalreport-on

- Azzopardi, P. S., Kennedy, E. C., Patton, G., Power, R., Roseby, R. D., Sawyer, S. M., & Brown, A. D. (2013). The quality of health research for young Indigenous Australians: systematic review *Med. J. Aust.* (Vol. 199, pp. 57-63).
- Blackstock, C., Bamblett, M., & Black, C. (2020). Indigenous ontology, international law and the application of the Convention to the over-representation of Indigenous children in out of home care in Canada and Australia. *Child abuse & neglect, 110*(Pt 1), 104587-104587. https://doi:10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104587
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3*(2), 77-101. https://doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Busija, L., Cinelli, R., Toombs, M. R., Easton, C., Hampton, R., Holdsworth, K., . . . McCabe, M.
 P. (2020). The Role of Elders in the Wellbeing of a Contemporary Australian
 Indigenous Community. *Gerontologist*, *60*(3), 513-524.
 https://doi:10.1093/geront/gny140
- Campbell, A., Chapman, M., McHugh, C., Sng, A., & Balaratnasingam, S. (2016). Rising Indigenous suicide rates in Kimberley and implications for suicide prevention. *Australasian psychiatry: bulletin of Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists, 24*(6), 561. https://doi:10.1177/1039856216665281
- Cantor, C., & Neulinger, K. (2000). The epidemiology of suicide and attempted suicide among young Australians. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 34*(3), 370-387. https://doi:10.1046/j.1440-1614.2000.00756.x
- Chandler, M., & Lalonde, C. (2008). Cultural Continuity as a Protective Factor Against Suicide in First Nations Youth. *Horizons, 10*.

- Cheung, Y. T. D., Spittal, M. J., Pirkis, J., & Yip, P. S. F. (2012). Spatial analysis of suicide mortality in Australia: Investigation of metropolitan-rural-remote differentials of suicide risk across states/territories. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75(8), 1460-1468. https://doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.04.008
- Clifford, A. C., Doran, C. M., & Tsey, K. (2013). A systematic review of suicide prevention interventions targeting Indigenous peoples in Australia, United States, Canada and New Zealand. (Research article)(Report). *BMC Public Health, 13*, 463.
- Cousins, S. (2017). Suicide in Indigenous Australians: a "catastrophic crisis". *The Lancet, 389*(10066), 242-242. https://doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30137-X
- Cox, A., Dudgeon, P., Holland, C., Kelly, K., Scrine, C., & Walker, R. (2014). Using participatory action research to prevent suicide in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. *Australian Journal of Primary Health, 20*(4), 345-349. https://doi:10.1071/PY14043
- De Leo, D., Milner, A., & Sveticic, J. (2012). Mental Disorders and Communication of Intent to Die in Indigenous Suicide Cases, Queensland, Australia. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 42*(2), 136-146. https://doi:10.1111/j.1943-278X.2011.00077.x
- De Leo, D., Sveticic, J., & Milner, A. (2011). Suicide in Indigenous People in Queensland, Australia: Trends and Methods, 1994–2007. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 45*(7), 532-538. https://doi:10.3109/00048674.2011.570310
- Derek Cheung, Y. T., Spittal, M. J., Williamson, M. K., Tung, S. J., & Pirkis, J. (2014). Predictors of suicides occurring within suicide clusters in Australia, 2004–2008. *Social Science & Medicine, 118*, 135-142. https://doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.08.005

- Derek Cheung, Y., Spittal, M., Williamson, M., Tung, S., & Pirkis, J. (2014). Predictors of suicides occurring within suicide clusters in Australia, 2004-2008. *Social Science & Medicine, 118*, 135.
- Elias, B., Mignone, J., Hall, M., Hong, S. P., Hart, L., & Sareen, J. (2012). Trauma and suicide behaviour histories among a Canadian Indigenous population: An empirical exploration of the potential role of Canada's residential school system. *Social Science & Medicine, 74*(10), 1560-1569. https://doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2012.01.026
- Elliott-Farrelly, T. (2004). Australian Aboriginal suicide: the need for an Aboriginal suicidology? *Australian e-journal for the advancement of mental health, 3*(3).
- Evans-Campbell, T. (2008). Historical Trauma in American Indian/Native Alaska Communities: A Multilevel Framework for Exploring Impacts on Individuals, Families, and Communities. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 23*(3), 316-338. https://doi:10.1177/0886260507312290
- Fahy, K., & Harrison, K. (2005). Methods of research in sports sciences: quantitative and qualitative approaches (pp. 92-194). Oxford, Oxfordshire: Meyer and Meyer Sport.
- Farrelly, T., & Francis, K. (2009). Definitions of Suicide and Self-Harm Behavior in an Australian Aboriginal Community. *Suicide and Life-Threatening Behavior, 39*(2), 182-Threatening Behavior, 2009, Vol.2039(2002), p.2182-2189. https://doi:10.1521/suli.2009.39.2.182
- Ferguson, M., Baker, A., Young, S., & Procter, N. (2016). Understanding suicide among aboriginal communities. (FOCUS: Indigenous health). *Australian Nursing & Midwifery Journal, 23*(8), 36.

- Goodwin-Smith, I., Hicks, N., Hawke, M., Alver, G., & Raftery, P. (2013). Living beyond aboriginal suicide: developing a culturally appropriate and accessible suicide postvention service for Aboriginal communities in South Australia. *Australian ejournal for the advancement of mental health, 11*(3), 231-240.
- Hamilton, S. L., Maslen, S., Best, D., Freeman, J., O'Donnell, M., Reibel, T., . . . Watkins, R.
 (2020). Putting 'justice' in recovery capital: Yarning about hopes and futures with young people in detention. *International journal for crime, justice and social democracy, 9*(2), 20-36. https://doi:10.5204/ijcjsd.v9i2.1256
- Hanssens, L. (2011). 'Suicide (Echo) Clusters' Are They Socially Determined, the Result of a Pre-existing Vulnerability in Indigenous Communities in the Northern Territory and How Can We Contain Cluster Suicides? *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal*, *35*(1), 14-19, 23.
- Hanssens, L. (2007). Indigenous dreaming: how suicide in the context of substance abuse has impacted on and shattered the dreams and reality of Indigenous communities in Northern Territory, Australia. *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal, 31*(6), 26-34.
- Hanssens, L. (2007). The search to identify contagion operating within suicide clusters in Indigenous communities, Northern Territory, Australia. *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal, 31*(5), 27-33.
- Hatcher, S. (2016). Indigenous Suicide: A Global Perspective with a New Zealand Focus. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 61*(11), 684-687. https://doi:10.1177/0706743716644147

Hatcher, S., & Stubbersfield, O. (2013). Sense of Belonging and Suicide: A Systematic Review. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 58*(7), 432-436. https://doi:10.1177/070674371305800709

Hatcher, S., Crawford, A., & Coupe, N. (2017). Preventing suicide in Indigenous communities. *Current Opinion in Psychiatry, 30*(1), 21-25. https://doi:10.1097/YCO.000000000000295

Hunter, E. (2011). Contextualizing Indigenous Suicide. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 45(7), 593-594. https://doi:10.3109/00048674.2011.581647

Hunter, E., & Harvey, D. (2002). Indigenous suicide in Australia, New Zealand, Canada and the United States. *Emergency Medicine*, *14*(1), 14-23. https://doi:10.1046/j.1442-2026.2002.00281.x

Hunter, E., & Milroy, H. (2006). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Suicide in Context. *Archives of Suicide Research, 10*(2), 141-157. https://doi:10.1080/13811110600556889

Isaak, C. A., Campeau, M., Katz, L. Y., Enns, M. W., Elias, B., & Sareen, J. (2009). Communitybased Suicide Prevention Research in Remote On-Reserve First Nations Communities. *International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 8*(2), 258-270. https://doi:10.1007/s11469-009-9250-0

Jowett, S., Carpenter, B., & Tait, G. (2018). Determining a suicide under Australian law. *UNSWLJ*, 41, 355.

Kelly, J., Saggers, S., Taylor, K., Pearce, G., Massey, P., Bull, J., . . . Ahboo, S. (2012). "Makes you proud to be black eh?": Reflections on meaningful Indigenous research participation. International Journal for Equity in Health, 11(1). https://doi:10.1186/1475-9276-11-40

- Kendall, E., Sunderland, N., Barnett, L., Nalder, G., & Matthews, C. (2011). Beyond the rhetoric of participatory research in Indigenous communities: Advances in Australia over the last decade. *Qualitative Health Research*, *21*(12), 1719-1728. https://doi:10.1177/1049732311418124
- Kosky, R. J., & Dundas, P. (2000). Death by hanging: implications for prevention of an important method of youth suicide. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 34*(5), 836-841. https://doi:10.1046/j.1440-1614.2000.00807.x
- Kuipers, P., Appleton, J., & Pridmore, S. (2012). Thematic analysis of key factors associated with Indigenous and non-Indigenous suicide in the Northern Territory, Australia.
 Rural and Remote Health, 12(4), 2235.

 Kuipers, P., Lindeman, M. A., Grant, L., & Dingwall, K. (2016). Front-line worker perspectives on Indigenous youth suicide in Central Australia: initial treatment and response.
 Advances in Mental Health, 14(2), 1-12.
 https://doi:10.1080/18387357.2016.1160753

Lopes, J., Lindeman, M., Taylor, K., & Grant, L. (2014). Cross cultural education in suicide prevention: Development of a training resource for use in Central Australian Indigenous communities. *Advances in Mental Health, 10*(3), 224-234. https://doi:10.5172/jamh.2012.10.3.224

- McCalman, J., Baird, B., & Tsey, K. (2007). Indigenous men taking their rightful place how one Aboriginal community is achieving results. *Aboriginal Isl Health Work J, 31*(4), 8-11.
- McHugh, C., Campbell, A., Chapman, M., & Balaratnasingam, S. (2016). Increasing Indigenous self-harm and suicide in the Kimberley: an audit of the 2005-2014 data. *The Medical journal of Australia, 205*(1), 33. https://doi:10.5694/mja15.01368
- McNamara, P. M. (2013). Adolescent suicide in Australia: rates, risk and resilience. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry*, *18*(3), 351-369. https://doi:10.1177/1359104512455812
- Mechielsen, J., Galbraith, M., & White, A. (2014). Reclaiming Indigenous Youth in Australia: Families and Schools Together. *Reclaiming Children and Youth, 23*(2), 35-41.
- Milnes, A., Pegrum, K., & Nebe, B. (2011). *Young Australians: their health and wellbeing 2011* (Vol. 4th). Canberra, A.C.T: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare.
- Mohatt, J., & Walkup, J. (2016). ADDRESSING THE CRISIS OF INDIGENOUS YOUTH SUICIDE OPPORTUNITIES AND CHALLENGES. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 55*(10), S1.
- Moulton, D. (2016). Suicide rate higher for indigenous people in Labrador. *CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne, 188*(12), E275. https://doi:10.1503/cmaj.109-5305
- Nasir, B. F., Hides, L., Kisely, S., Ranmuthugala, G., Nicholson, G. C., Black, E., . . . Toombs, M. (2016). The need for a culturally-tailored gatekeeper training intervention program in preventing suicide among Indigenous peoples: a systematic review. *BMC Psychiatry*, *16*(1), 357. https://doi:10.1186/s12888-016-1059-3

- Nasir, B., Kisely, S., Hides, L., Ranmuthugala, G., Brennan-Olsen, S., Nicholson, G. C., . . .
 Toombs, M. (2017). An Australian Indigenous community-led suicide intervention
 skills training program: community consultation findings. *BMC psychiatry*, *17*(1), 219.
 https://doi:10.1186/s12888-017-1380-5. (Accession No. 28610603)
- National Health and Research Medical Council. (2003). Values and ethics: guidelines on ethical conduct in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health research / National Health and Medical Research Council
- Pollock, N. J., Naicker, K., Loro, A., Mulay, S., & Colman, I. (2018). Global incidence of suicide among Indigenous peoples: a systematic review. *BMC Medicine, 16*(1), 145. https://doi:10.1186/s12916-018-1115-6
- Soole, R., Kolves, K., & De Leo, D. (2014). Suicides in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children: analysis of Queensland Suicide Register. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 38*(6), 574-578. https://doi:10.1111/1753-6405.12259
- Souza, M. L. P. d., & Orellana, J. D. Y. (2012). Suicide Among the Indigenous People in Brazil: A Hidden Public Health Issue (Vol. 34, pp. 489-492).
- Stanganelli, V., Hansen, B., Heywood, A., Prince, T., Callaghan, L., Howe, A., . . . Selleck, M. (2012). LIKE SPARKLE IN SUGAR CANE. CLUSTER OF YOUTH SUICIDE. *Aust. N. Z. J. Psych., 46*, 23-24.
- Tatz, C. (2004). Aboriginal, Maori and Inuit youth suicide: avenues to alleviation? *Australian Aboriginal Studies, 2004*(2), 15.
- Tatz, C. (2005). Aboriginal Suicide is Different A portrait of life and self destruction (2nd ed. ed.). Canberra: Aboriginal Studies Press.

Tighe, J., & McKay, K. (2014). Alive and Kicking Goals!: Preliminary findings from a Kimberley suicide prevention program. *Advances in Mental Health, 10*(3), 240-245. https://doi:10.5172/jamh.2012.10.3.240

 Wallerstein, N., & Duran, B. (2010). Community-Based Participatory Research Contributions to Intervention Research: The Intersection of Science and Practice to Improve Health Equity. *American Journal of Public Health, 100*(S1), S40-S46. https://doi:10.2105/AJPH.2009.184036

- Walls, M. L., Hautala, D., & Hurley, J. (2014). "Rebuilding our community": Hearing silenced voices on Aboriginal youth suicide. *Transcultural psychiatry*, *51*(1), 47-72
- Wand, A. P. F., & Eades, S. J. (2008). Navigating the process of developing a research project in aboriginal health. *Medical Journal of Australia, 188*(10), 584-587.
- Ward, R. (2017). Cultural understandings 11 of Aboriginal suicide from a social and emotional wellbeing perspective. *Yatdjuligin: Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Nursing and Midwifery Care*, 192.
- Ward, R., & Gorman, D. (2010). Racism, discrimination and health services to aboriginal people in South West Queensland. *Aboriginal and Islander Health Worker Journal, 34*(6), 3.
- Webster, P. C. (2016). Canada's Indigenous suicide crisis. *The Lancet, 387*(10037), 2494-2494. https://doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30836-4
- Wexler, L. M., & Gone, J. P. (2012). Culturally responsive suicide prevention in indigenous communities: unexamined assumptions and new possibilities. *American journal of public health, 102*(5), 800. https://doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300432

World Health Organization. (2019). *Suicide in the world: global health estimates*. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/326948

World Health Organization. (2014). *Preventing Suicide: a global imperative*. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/131056